## Alma Mater Studiorum – Università di Bologna

# DOTTORATO DI RICERCA IN

# Scienze Biomediche

## Ciclo XXIX

Settore Concorsuale di afferenza: 06/A3

Settore Scientifico disciplinare: MED/07

### EPIDEMIOLOGICAL, DIAGNOSTIC AND DRUG DISCOVERY STUDIES OF AN EMERGING INFECTION: HUMAN LEISHMANIASIS

Presentata da: Margherita Ortalli

**Coordinatore Dottorato** 

Relatore

Chiar.mo Prof. Lucio Cocco

Chiar.ma Prof.ssa Maria Carla Re

Esame finale anno 2017

#### Abstract

Human leishmaniasis is a vector-borne diseases, caused by the Leishmania parasite and endemic in 100 countries, including southern Europe. The clinical spectrum of Leishmania infection ranges from asymptomatic to visceral leishmaniasis (VL), the latter being fatal if not treated. The real prevalence of asymptomatic infections is unknown, the diagnosis of VL is challenging and lacks standardized methods, and also antileishmanial treatment has critical limitations.

In this scenario, this study aimed (1) to determine the prevalence of asymptomatic infections in blood donors of the Bologna province, where increase of VL cases has been recently reported, (2) to compare the performance of nine different serological tests in the diagnosis of VL in northern Italy, (3) to assess the antileishmanial activity of a library of newly synthesized natural like compounds, ie chalcones.

(1) The screening on samples of blood donors living in the Bologna province, shows a total prevalence of asymptomatic Leishmania infection of 11.5%, suggesting a high circulation of the parasite in this area.

(2) Our findings on serodiagnosis indicate that rK39 immunochromatographic tests are insufficiently sensitive as screening tests for VL, ELISA exhibited suboptimal results in terms of sensitivity, IFAT and WB exhibited excellent sensitivity, but their cost and complexity in execution would not allow their employment as screening tests for VL. These results confirm the complexity of VL serodiagnosis and reveal the variability of diagnostic performance of serological tests.

(3) Screening of 33 newly synthesized chalcones on proliferation of Leishmania promastigote and amastigote revealed that 2 compounds showed a remarkable antileishmanial potency against the parasite, a low citotoxicity against mammalian cells and they also were able to efficiently bind trypanothione reductase - a specific parasite enzyme - suggesting that these compounds should be further evaluated as antileishmanial agents.

Keywords: leishmaniasis, neglected disease, asymptomatic infection, epidemiological study, serodiagnosis, diagnostic test, natural compound, drug discovery, challenging.

# Table of contents

1 Introduction	7
1.1 The parasite	7
1.1.2 Morphology and life cycle	10
1.2. The vector	
1.3 The reservoir hosts	13
1.4 Epidemiology	13
1.5 Pathogenesis	14
1.6 Clinical presentation	15
1.6.1 Visceral leishmaniasis (VL)	15
1.6.2 Tegumentary leishmaniasis (CL and MCL)	16
1.6.3 Leishmaniasis in immunocompromised patients	18
1.6.4 Asymptomatic infections	18
1.7 Diagnosis	20
1.7.1 Diagnosis of visceral leishmaniasis	20
1.7.1.1 Serological testing for VL	20
1.7.1.2 Direct testing for VL	22
1.7.2 Tegumentary leishmaniasis	23
1.8 Treatment	24
1.8.1.1 Pentavalent antimonials	24
1.8.1.2 Amphotericin B	25
1.8.1.3 Miltefosine	25

1.8.1.4 Paromomycin	
1.8.1.5 Azoles medicines.	26
1.8.2 Treatment of leishmaniasis in immunocompromised patients	
1.8.3 Anti-leishmanial drug candidates with focus on natural and	natural like
products	27
2 Aim of the study	30
3 Methods	
3.1 Study I	32
3.1.1 Study design	32
3.1.2 Serological and molecular tests	32
3.2 Study II	
3.2.1 Study design	
3.2.2 Test methods/serological assays	34
3.3 Study III	
3.3.1 Study design	35
3.3.2 Chalcone synthesis	35
3.3.3 Drug susceptibility tests	35
3.3.4 Cytotoxicity assays	36
3.3.5 Enzymatic screening	36
4 Results	
4.1 Study I	
4.2 Study II	
4.2.1 Performance of the ICT	
4.2.2 Performance of the ELISA	

4.2.3 Performance of the IFAT	40
4.2.4 Performance of the western blot test	40
4.2.5 Comparison of the tests	40
4.3 Study III	41
4.3.1 In vitro antileishmanial activity of chalcones	41
4.3.2 Evaluation of the Inhibition of trypanothione reductase (TR)	44
5 Summary of the studies included in this thesis and general conclusions	54
References	61

#### Epidemiological, diagnostic and drug discovery studies of an emerging infection:

#### human leishmaniasis

#### **1. Introduction**

Leishmaniasis is one of the most important neglected tropical diseases, which is endemic in around 100 countries including Southern Europe, Asia, Africa, and Latin America, with more than 350 million people living at risk of developing one of the many forms of the disease (1). The presence of leishmaniasis is linked to poverty, but social, environmental and climatologic factors also influence the disease's epidemiology. In the last decades leishmaniasis has spread in industrialized countries and, as a consequence of global warming, in countries previously regarded unfitting for the spread of the microorganism (2-4).

Leishmaniasis is caused by digenetic protozoa parasite from over 20 *Leishmania* species and is transmitted to humans by the bite of infected female phlebotomine sandflies (5). The clinical spectrum ranges from asymptomatic infections to three different manifestations: cutaneous leishmaniasis (CL), mucocutaneous or mucosal leishmaniasis (ML) and visceral leishmaniasis (VL), the latter being the most severe form, which affects internal organs and in the absence of specific therapy is fatal (6).

#### **1.1 The Parasite**

The genus *Leishmania* (*L*.) is composed of protozoa belonging to the *Trypanosamatidae* family, order *Kinetoplastida*. There are two subgenera of medical importance that were created on the basis of the parasite developmental patterns within the sandfly gut: *Leishmania* (all development anterior to the pylorus) and *Viannia* (developing in the hindgut and pylorus) (7).

Initially, species classification was based on various extrinsic criteria such as clinical, geographical and biological characteristics. Since the 1970s, intrinsic criteria such as immunological, biochemical and genetic data have been used to define species of *Leishmania*. Today, on the basis

of isoenzyme analysis of the parasite (multilocus enzyme electrophoresis - MLEE), leishmanial species are grouped into complexes (FIG.1) which are distributed in countries based on epidemiology and clinical characteristics (8, 9).

Leishmania subgenus includes the following complexes

- L. donovani complex, causing visceral and cutaneous forms in the Old World (species: L. chagasi;

L. infantum; L. donovani)

- L. major complex, causing cutaneous forms in the Old World (species: L. major)

- *L. tropica complex,* causing disseminated cutaneous forms in the Old World (species: *L. aethiopica; L. tropica*)

- *L. mexicana complex,* causing cutaneous and mucosal forms in the New World (species: L. mexicana; *L. amazonensis; L. ganhami*)

Viannia subgenus includes the following complexes:

- L. braziliensis complex, causing mucocutaneous forms in the New World (species: L. braziliensis;
L. peruviana)

- L. guyanensis complex, causing disseminated cutaneous forms in the New World (species: L. guyanensis; L. panamensis).



Fig. 1 Taxonomy of the Leishmania genus based on MLEE analysis. Modified from Van der Auwera G. et al., 2015

#### 1.1.2 Morphology and life cycle

These protozoa have a complex digenetic life cycle, maintaining their life cycle through transmission between an insect (phlebotomine sandfly) and a mammalian host. Depending on the species, transmission can be zoonotic or anthroponotic. In the anthroponotic cycle, the sole reservoirs are humans with symptomatic or asymptomatic infections, while the zoonotic cycle involves a vector and wild and/or domestic animals as reservoirs, and humans are considered accidental hosts (10) (FIG 2).

The extracellular flagellated, 15-20 µm long motile forms of Leishmania spp. are called promastigotes (FIG 3a). They are found within the midgut of the sandfly and progress through various morphologically distinct stages of differentiation to ultimately become the non-dividing, infectious 'metacyclic' promastigotes located at the stomodeal valve (an invagination of the foregut into the midgut). During blood feeding, the sandfly regurgitates metacyclic promastigotes, together with immunomodulatory parasite-derived proteophosphoglycans and various salivary components. Metacyclic promastigotes are phagocytosed by tissue-resident macrophages and dermal dendritic cells (DCs) of the host. Inside the monocyte-macrophages, promastigotes transform into the amastigote life form. Amastigotes do not have an exteriorized flagellum, are 3-5 µm long (FIG. 3b) and live as obligate intracellular parasites in mammalian cells: they develop and replicate within the phagolysosomal niche of the phagocyte until they are released by cell lysis in order to infect other macrophages (11). Amastigotes re-transform into flagellate forms in sandfly midgut after a blood meal, completing the transmission cycle (3, 7, 12). A typical characteristic of the parasite is the kinetoplast, a structure consisting of mitochondrial DNA that is separated from the nucleus (7). Depending on the species tropism, parasites remain localized at the inoculation site, resulting in the development of CL, they can spread to mucosae (MCL) or to the organs of the mononuclear phagocytic system, giving rise to VL.



**Fig. 3** The two forms of the *Leishmania* parasite. Schematic diagram of a promastigote (a) and amastigotes (b) within a macrophage. Modified from University of Wisconsin (hhttp://www.uwlax.edu/Biology/Zoo-lab/Lab-3—Protozoans) and CDC (https://www.cdc.gov/dpdx/leishmaniasis/index.html)



Nature Reviews | Microbiology

Fig.2 Leishmania life cycle. Modified from Kaye P. et al., 2011

#### 1.2. The vector

The blood-feeding phlebotomine sandflies belonging to the genus *Phlebotomus* in the Old World and *Lutzomyia* in the New World, are considered the only natural vectors of leishmanial species. Among the 800 known sandfly species, around ninety three have been positively identified as vectors of leishmaniasis (7, 9). Like mosquitoes, the female needs a blood meal for egg development and only the female is hematophagous. The sandfly is a noiseless 2-3 mm long arthropod, whose colour ranges from black to white and unlike other *Diptera* species characteristically positions its wings at an angle to the abdomen (7, 13). Adults are mainly active in the evening, at night and in the early morning; they are weak flyers with flight speed <1 m/s and flight range of a few hundred meters (14, 15).

Sandflies are widely distributed in Asia, Africa, Australia, Central and South America and Europe. The geographical distribution and density of the phlebotomine sandflies are strongly linked to environmental conditions such as altitude, land cover, vegetation, climatic factors and to the availability of suitable hosts (16). Sandflies are abundant in the Mediterranean basin, the most prevalent phlebotomus species are *P. perniciosus*, *P. tobbi*, *P. ariasi*, *P. papatasi*, *P. perfiliewi*, *P. sergenti* and *P. neglectus* (17).

The sandfly species reported in Italy includes *P. perniciosus*, *P. perfiliewi*, *P. neglectus* and *P.ariasi*. *P. perniciosus* and *P. neglectus* are the most prevalent species observed in central Italy, in pre-Alpine territories and in southern Italy; while *P. perfiliewi* is the most prevalent species in northeastern Italy and *P.ariasi* is found close to the French border.

Transmission routes other than insects have rarely been reported, such as vertical transmission and injection by needles – the latter led to a VL outbreak in the '90 among intravenous-drug users in southern Europe (18, 19). Potential transmission of *Leishmania by* organ transplantation, blood transfusion and semen has also been reported (19-24).

#### 1.3 The reservoir hosts

For vector-borne infections, the system comprises one or more vectors and one or more mammalian hosts, which allow the agent to be transferred continuously between them (25). A mammal host responsible for the long-term maintenance of a population of infectious agents is called a reservoir host. The reservoir spectrum that maintains the various species of *Leishmania* is wide; within the zoonotic leishmaniases the reservoir hosts are wild animals, commensals or domestic animals (17, 26, 27). Dogs are the main domestic reservoirs, with widespread dissemination of parasites both in viscera and dermis, but also foxes, jackals and wolves represent sylvatic reservoirs of *L. infantum*, *L. major* and *L. aethiopica*. Rodents, bradypus and foxes are reservoirs of *Leishmania* in the New World. Within anthroponotic leishmaniases, the reservoir host is human (6), who is directly involved as principal reservoir host in VL caused by *L. donovani* and CL caused by *L. tropica*.

#### 1.4 Epidemiology

Leishmaniasis is still one of the world's most neglected diseases. The disease affects the poorest people on earth and is associated with malnutrition, population displacement, poor housing, a weak immune system and lack of financial resources (6, 28). About 350 million people are considered at risk of contracting leishmaniasis and 2 million new cases occur yearly. Control programs are insufficient and morbidity/ mortality from leishmaniasis worldwide show a worrying increasing trend (6).

Leishmaniasis is distributed worldwide with the exception of Australia and Antarctica. Within the Old World it is spread in Asia, the Middle East, Africa and the Mediterranean basin. Within the New World cases of leishmaniasis have been recorded from the southern United States to northern Argentina, with the exception of the Caribbean islands, Chile and Uruguay (6, 7).

It is estimated that about 75% of the total cases of CL are concentrated within 10 countries, 4 of which are in the Americas (Brazil, Colombia, Peru, and Nicaragua). With respect to VL, 90% of

cases are concentrated within Brazil, Ethiopia, India, Bangladesh, Sudan, and South Sudan (29, 30). Almost 90% of MCL cases occur in Bolivia, Brazil and Peru (6).

In southern Europe leishmaniasis is endemic in Spain, Portugal, Greece, France, Italy and the Balkans. Most of the reported cases are due to zoonotic VL, CL is also present (2), but there are probably many more cases than those registered (31). Human leishmaniasis appears not to be limited to the Mediterranean region anymore, it has spread northward (where sandflies were previously thought to be absent or present only in very low densities), as shown by the recent reports in northern Italy and one case in southern Germany (2, 32-34).

#### **1.5 Pathogenesis**

The diverse clinical manifestations of *Leishmania*, from cutaneous lesions to systemic VL, are the result of the interplay between the infecting parasitic species and the host's immune response. Parasites such as *L. major* are mainly dermotropic and remain contained at cutaneous levels, while *L. infantum* and *L. donovani* may disseminate into the organs (35, 36).

The sandfly lacerates blood vessels during feeding and parasites are introduced intradermally. Neutrophils are the earliest cells recruited to the site of the sandfly bite and represent the first infected cell population(37, 38). Parasites are taken up essentially by dendritic cells and macrophages that can then leave the injection site. The types of macrophage population infected by the cutaneous and visceral *Leishmania* species differ, possibly depending on the preferential affinity of the parasite to specific macrophage cell surface receptors, however the mechanism is still poorly understood.

Antileishmanial immunity is mediated *via* both innate (macrophages, dendritic cells and neutrophils) and adaptive (T cells) immunity, but the CD4+ T-cell subset is crucial for host defence. In addition, cytokines participate in a network of interactions that induce and control the immune

responses. Conversely, although a strong humoral response is present during the infection, it appears that antibodies play no role in protection (39).

Based on experimental studies in murine models, it is widely accepted that resistance to the disease is correlated with expansion of T-helper-1 (Th1) cells that produce IL-2 and IFN- $\gamma$  and amplify effector response by activating macrophages to inhibit the growth of the parasite. The development of T-helper-2 (Th2) cells, resulting in IL-4, IL-5 and IL-10 production, or a mixed Th1/Th2 response is associated to disseminated infection (40-42)

Polymorphisms in genes involved in such immune interactions may play a role in the clinical pleiomorphism demonstrated by leishmaniasis (7). Furthermore, acquired immunosuppressive conditions can modulate parasite replication. For example, it was observed that infection with HIV-1 leads to 100–2,230 times increase in the risk of developing VL (43). HIV/Leishmania coinfection include chronic evolution, with a high rate of relapse and poor response to treatment (7, 44, 45).

#### **1.6 Clinical presentation**

The clinical spectrum of leishmaniases depends mostly on parasite species and host immune response, ranging from asymptomatic infection (80-95% of affected people) to three main clinical forms: visceral (also known as kala-azar and the most severe form of the disease), cutaneous and mucocutaneous (20, 46). The incubation period between the infecting sandfly bite and symptoms' onset ranges from 1 week – 2 months to a year or more (6).

#### 1.6.1 Visceral leishmaniasis (VL)

VL is caused by parasite belonging to the *Leishmania donovani* complex and is associated with considerable morbidity and mortality. VL is endemic in around 100 countries including Southern Europe, Asia, Africa, and Latin America. More than 90% of new cases reported to WHO occurred in 6 countries: Brazil, Ethiopia, India, Somalia, South Sudan and Sudan.

VL is the most severe form of the disease and is fatal if untreated. It is characterized by irregular fever, weight loss, splenomegaly, hepatomegaly and anaemia (FIG. 4) (6). Parasites proliferate wherever there are cells of the mononuclear phagocyte system, most often in macrophages; Bone marrow cells become infected, and patients develop pancytopenia and immunosuppression, making them susceptible to bacterial superinfections (47).



Fig.4 Hepatosplenomegaly in a VL case. Modified fromhttp://www.emedmd.com/content/leishmaniasis

#### **1.6.2** Tegumentary leishmaniasis (CL and MCL)

CL usually occurs in an exposed area accessible to sandflies such as the face, neck and limbs. In the Old World it is caused by parasites belonging to the *Leishmania major* complex, *L. tropica* complex and occasionally by *L. infantum* (*L. donovani* complex). In the Americas, CL is most commonly caused by the species *Leishmania mexicana*, *Leishmania braziliensis*, or *Leishmania panamensi*. *L. major* and *L. tropica* tend to cause less severe lesions that heal more quickly, and therefore, take on a relatively benign course (46). Conversely, CL in the New World is less likely to resolve without treatment.

Regardless of the infecting parasite species, CL is not a life threatening disease, but healing occurs over several months and may leave a scar and permanent alterations in the skin pigmentation.

Lesions may begin as small red papules and can progress into erythematous nodules, indurated plaques, scaly plaques or ulcers with raised, rolled dusky borders; they may be dry and crusted or be accompanied by exudates (FIG. 5a) (48).

MCL is usually caused by leishmanial species of the New World, but it has occasionally been associated with any species that are endemic in the Old Word (49, 50). In the New World, MCL usually begins with a cutaneous lesion that may be followed by metastasis to the mucosal tissues of the mouth and upper respiratory tract and may result in severe tissue destruction and gross disfigurement (7). Studies have shown that MCL can present from several months to 20 or more years after a cutaneous lesion. Mucosal lesions caused by *L.infantum* are not associated to a previous CL and involve the buccal or laryngeal mucosae in immunocompetent or immunocompromised patients (FIG. 5b)(51).



**Fig.5** (a) nodular lesion of cutaneous leishmaniasis (b) ulceration of the oral mucosa in mucosal leishmaniasis. Modified from Nangia A. et al., 2014

#### 1.6.3 Leishmaniasis in immunocompromised patients

Immunosuppression is one of the strongest risk factor responsible for increased vulnerability to a primary *Leishmania* infection and to reactivation of a latent infection. Immunosuppression can also alter disease presentation and treatment response. While historically mainly observed in HIV-infected patients, non-HIV related immunosuppressive conditions are becoming increasingly prevalent globally, mainly because of better medical care of patients with chronic illnesses and the therapeutic use of immunosuppressive drugs as TNF-alpha antagonists (52-54). VL has also been reported after organ transplantation (52, 55). A comparative study of HIV-infected and uninfected Spanish individuals showed that AIDS patients have an incidence of VL that is 418-fold higher than HIV-negative individuals (56).

It has been shown that HIV and *Leishmania* infection reinforce each other, HIV patients are more likely to develop VL, due to reactivation of a dormant infection or clinical manifestation after primary infection (6). At the same time, VL promotes the clinical progression of HIV disease and the development of AIDS-defining conditions and negatively affects the response to antiretroviral treatment (57). Patients characteristically have high disseminated parasite loads and the infection is difficult to cure (58, 59).

#### **1.6.4 Asymptomatic infections**

Asymptomatic forms characterize individuals infected by the parasite in apparently healthy condition. Actually, the majority of infected people do not progress to patent leishmaniasis; clinical syndromes caused by *Leishmania* are only the tip of the iceberg. Several prospective studies have documented the ratio of asymptomatic infections with *L. donovani* or *L. infantum* infection to incident clinical cases as 4:1 in Kenya, 4:1 in Bangladesh, 6:1 in Ethiopia, 9:1 in India and Nepal

18:1 in Brazil and 50:1 in Spain, suggesting that many people infected with *Leishmania* develop an effective immune response and do not manifest clinical disease (60-63).



**Fig. 4** Human leishmaniasis pyramid and possible involvement of asymptomatic carriers in transmission of leishmaniasis. Modified from Michael G. et al., 2011

#### **1.7 Diagnosis**

Microbiological diagnosis of leishmaniasis is fundamental because symptoms are not pathognomonic. For identification of leishmaniasis, clinical suspects must be linked to a positive parasitological and/or serological test (6).

#### 1.7.1 Diagnosis of visceral leishmaniasis

The diagnosis of VL remains challenging, due to the limited sensitivity of microscopy, the poor performance of serological methods in immunocompromised patients and the lack of standardization of molecular tests (64).

The diagnosis of VL is traditionally based on serologic testing and the direct demonstration of *Leishmania* by microscopic examination of bone marrow aspirates, but limits have to be considered, including low sensitivity of serologic testing in immunosuppressed patients, the necessity to use invasive procedures to obtain bone marrow samples, the low sensitivity of microscopy examination (between 53% and 85%) and the need of expert microscopists (65). Over the past 10 years, molecular tests have been developed, and polymerase chain reaction (PCR) represents a highly sensitive technique for the diagnosis of VL (64, 66).

#### 1.7.1.1 Serological testing for VL

Serologic diagnosis is based on the presence of a specific humoral response. Current serological tests available for routine use are employing different techniques, including indirect immunofluorescence test (IFAT), enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA), western blot (WB) and direct agglutination test (DAT). All antibody detection tests share the same drawbacks: antibodies remain positive for months after the patient has been cured and do not differentiate between current and past infection (67). Further, serological tests may give false negative results in immunocompromised patients.

IFAT, ELISA and WB exhibit excellent diagnostic accuracy, but their cost and complexity in execution would not allow their employment in developing countries. Therefore, DAT and immunochromatographic tests (ICT) have been produced.

IFAT is based on detecting antibodies, which are demonstrable in the early stages of infection,. It has shown acceptable estimates for sensitivity (87–100%) and specificity (77–100%) (68). IFAT is based on immunological detection of anti-*Leishmania* antibodies in human serum: using a slide with promastigotes fixed on it as antigens and fluorescein-labeled anti-human immunoglobulins.

ELISA is one of the preferred laboratory test for serodiagnosis of VL (68). ELISA is a test for the qualitative determination of specific IgG against *Leishmania* in human serum: on the surface of the microtiter wells, inactivated soluble antigens of *Leishmania* are bound, the human serum anti-*Leishmania* antibodies possibly present in the sample bind with the antigens. A peroxidase conjugated antibody (anti-IgG) with a substrate and a chromogen are added, the bound converts the colorless substrate/chromogen to colored one and the absorption is measured. The sensitivity and specificity of ELISA depends on the antigen used; one of the most commonly used antigens is a crude soluble antigen (CSA). The sensitivity and specificity of ELISA using CSA range from 80 to 100% and from 84 to 95%, respectively.

ICT rK39 rapid test is a non-invasive and cost effective method that has shown high sensitivity and specificity in the Indian subcontinent and southern Europe (68), while in East Africa the estimated sensitivity seems to be lower (69, 70). It is a qualitative test for the detection of antibody to *Leishmania* in serum. The membrane is pre-coated with recombinant parasitic rk39 antigen. During testing, the serum sample reacts with the dye conjugate which has been pre-coated in the test device. The mixture then migrates upward on the membrane chromatographically by capillary action to react with recombinant *Leishmania* antigen on the membrane and generate a line (71).

DAT is an inexpensive and simple-to-perform test, making it ideal for both field and laboratory use. DAT is based on direct agglutination of *Leishmania* promastigotes that react specifically with anti-*Leishmania* antibodies in the serum specimen, resulting in agglutination of the promastigotes. Whole, trypsinized, Coomassie-stained promastigotes can be used either as a suspension or in freeze-dried form that can be stored at room temperature for at least two years (67). DAT is considered to be a highly sensitive and specific method: according to a meta-analysis that included 30 studies, the sensitivity and specificity of DAT were estimated at 94.8 and 97.1%, respectively (68).

For the WB, promastigotes are cultured to log phase, lysed, and the proteins are separated on SDS-PAGE. The separated proteins are electrotransferred onto a nitrocellulose membrane and probed with serum from the patient. This technique provides detailed antibody responses to various leishmanial antigens, and has been found to be more sensitive than IFAT and ELISA, especially in co-infected HIV patients with VL, but the drawbacks of the technique (equipment and time requirements, cumbersomeness, and cost) limit its use to research laboratories or reference laboratories (67, 72).

#### 1.7.1.2 Direct testing for VL

Parasitological diagnosis can be performed by demonstrating the amastigote form of the parasite in tissues, isolating the parasite in cultures, or by molecular assays.

Amastigotes can be observed within macrophages on microscopic examination of Giemsa-stained bone marrow aspirate specimens. The specificity of the method is high, while the sensitivity varies according to the examined aspirates. Clinical samples (bone marrow aspirate or buffy coat from peripheral blood from HIV positive patients) may also be cultured into monophasic (Schneider's insect medium, M199, or Grace's medium) or diphasic (Novy-McNeal-Nicolle medium and Evans modified Tobie's medium) culture media. Cultures should be examined weekly for four weeks and promastigotes are observed in case of positive culture. Culture from splenic biopsy and from bone marrow aspirates possesses high specificity, nevertheless this technique is tedious, time consuming, requires expertise, expensive equipment and is, therefore, restricted to referral laboratories and hospitals (68).

Molecular techniques can detect nucleic acids unique to the parasite; a variety of nucleic acid detection methods targeting both DNA and RNA have been developed. Amongst these, PCR has proved to be a highly sensitive and specific technique, especially in immunosuppressed patients. This method is minimally invasive as peripheral blood specimens are required, is capable of identifying relapses/reinfections in VL-treated patients, and can provide species identification (73). Different target sequences are used, which include ribosomal RNA genes, kinetoplast DNA (kDNA, mitochondrion genome), miniexon-derived RNA (medRNA), gp63, G6PD and the  $\beta$ -tubulin gene region. Sensitivity is excellent (near 100%) in spleen or bone marrow and can be lower but still good by employing peripheral blood (varying from 70% to 100%) (67, 74). However, PCR techniques remain complex and expensive to perform, and in most VL-endemic countries this technique is not affordable in the diagnostic routine.

#### 1.7.2 Tegumentary leishmaniasis

Clinical manifestations of tegumentary leishmaniasis are not specific and may mimic other skin conditions, such as staphylococcal or streptococcal infection, leprosy, mycobacterial ulcer, cancer, fungal infection, sarcoidosis and tropical ulcer (67, 75). As the clinical presentation of tegumentary leishmaniasis lacks specificity and treatment is costly and toxic, diagnostic confirmation is required. Diagnosis is obtained microscopically by direct identification of amastigotes in Giemsa-stained smears of scraping, fine-needle aspiration or biopsy of lesions. The material obtained by any of these methods can be used for microscopic examination, culture and molecular diagnostic techniques. A combination of microscopy and culture increases diagnostic sensitivity to more than

85% (67). DNA detection by PCR is based on kDNA or rDNA, mini-exon,  $\beta$ -tubulin, gp63, G6PD, cytochrome B gene; it offers the best sensitivity and specificity rates (98.8% and 100%, respectively) (74), but is not currently practical in disease-endemic areas where technical resources are poor (75).

Serological diagnosis has low sensitivity and variable specificity, it does not distinguish between past and present infections; moreover, anti-leishmanial antibodies can be detected by serological tests but they tend to be undetectable or present at low titers due to poor humoral response, therefore serological assays are not the usual diagnostic methods, because they are of little value in the diagnosis of CL; conversely, concerning ML diagnosis, antibody research is useful and shows a good sensitivity (6, 67, 75).

#### **1.8 Treatment**

Different chemical compounds have been found to be effective against leishmanisis; however, most are not safe and are difficult to use (76). One of the main challenges is the presence of different *Leishmania* species and various clinical manifestation, complicating the therapeutic approach. There are many available anti-leishmanial agents, but the optimal drug is still out of reach, since almost all available compounds share several limitations; many of them are expensive with severe side and toxic effects or have a marked reduction of therapeutic effectiveness(77, 78).

#### 1.8.1.1 Pentavalent antimonials

Pentavalent antimonials have been used used all over the world since the mid of 1930s for all forms of leishmaniasis. Two antimonials are available: meglumine antimoniate (Glucantime®) and sodium stibogluconate (Pentostam®). They are chemically similar, and their toxicity and efficacy are related to their antimonial content (6).

Although antimonials are the most commonly used medication against leishmaniasis, their exact mechanism of action remains unknown. Several *Leishmania*-killing mechanisms have been

attributed to pentavalent antimonials including apoptosis, disturbance of fatty acids  $\beta$ -oxidation, adenosine diphosphate phosphorylation, and redox balance, inhibition of the glycolysis pathway and ability to act on infected macrophages eliciting an oxidative/nitrosative stress against internalized parasites (79, 80).

They are associated with serious adverse side effects, including arthralgias, myalgias, leukopenia, pancreatitis, liver toxicity, cardiotoxicity and cardiac arrhythmia in the patients, and increased parasite resistance (81).

#### 1.8.1.2 Amphotericin B

An alternative drug to the antimonials is the antifungal macrolide, amphotericin B, that has shown optimal results on MCL and VL. Two forms of amphotericin are available: conventional amphotericin B deoxycholate and liposomal amphotericin B (Ambisome®), the lipid formulations of amphotericin B, that have been developed to improve the pharmacokinetic characters of the drug, the tolerability in the patient and to minimize the side effects (82).

Amphotericin B controls *Leishmania* infections through two distinct mechanisms. The first includes, auto-oxidation of amphotericin, leading to the production of free radicals. The second mechanism requires the binding of amphotericin to sterols in the membrane of the parasites, which makes pores that cause an ion imbalance (80).

Amphotericin B exhibits high efficacy (90–100%) even in *Leishmania*/HIV co-infection cases (82). However, it is an expensive drug and it has many adverse effects including fever, thrombophlebitis and occasionally hypokalemia, nephrotoxicity, liver disorder, myocarditis (83).

#### 1.8.1.3 Miltefosine

Miltefosine is an alkyl phosphocholine analogue, originally developed as an oral anticancer drug then implicated as anti-leishmanial agent. It is the only oral medication available against VL and CL, with a cure rate of 95%. This drug is well tolerated for the treatment of all forms of leishmaniasis (6, 82).

The mechanism of anti-leishmanial action of miltefosine remains unclear, but parasite apoptosis preceded by drug intracellular accumulation has been described. Other possible mechanisms include cytochrome c oxidase inhibition, which leads to mitochondrial dysfunction and immunomodulation (79). Miltefosine commonly induces gastrointestinal side-effects such as anorexia, nausea, vomiting, diarrhea and recent studies have pointed out that miltefosine has a potential teratogenic effect (6, 79).

#### 1.8.1.4 Paromomycin

Paromomycin is an antibacterial aminoglycoside which has been used for the treatment of VL in a parenteral formulation and in both topical and parenteral formulations for the treatment of CL (82, 84). This dryg has a high efficacy (94.6%) and low price (82).

Paromomycin can affect ribosomal activity, inhibiting protein synthesis and mitochondrial membrane potential, which deprives the parasite of energy, other mechanisms of action were also suggested for this drug, such as alteration on membrane fluidity and lipid metabolism (80, 82).

Paromomycin showa a low incidence of side effects, including reversible ototoxicity, vestibular instability and increase of hepatic transaminases. Renal toxicity is rare (6, 82).

#### 1.8.1.5 Azoles medicines

These oral imidazole-derived antifungal agents have variable efficacy in leishmaniasis treatment. They have been reported to be effective in the treatment of VL cases, either alone or in association with other anti-leishmanial agents (82). Azoles exert their effects through inhibition of some key enzymes in the synthesis of ergosterol. Adverse effects include gastrointestinal symptoms and hepatotoxicity (84).

#### 1.8.2 Treatment of leishmaniasis in immunocompromised patients

The criteria used to assess response to the antileishmanial treatment in the immunocompetent patients are not applicable in the immunocompromised host. as immunosuppressed patients tend to have several relapses of VL (85).

Leishmaniasis in HIV-positive patients is particularly severe; HIV and *Leishmania* infection reinforce each other, VL negatively affects the response to antiretroviral treatment and is difficult to cure in co-infected patients. The co-infection is usually associated with low cure rate, high relapse rate and treatment-associated mortality particularly with antimonials (85). The treatment of VL/HIV co-infection cases is similar to that of the immunocompetent VL patients with some precautions in doses due to low CD4 counts, (combined with leukopenia and lymphocitopenia) and prolonged therapeutic regimen., WHO recommends liposomal amphotericin B as a preferred therapy because of its safety profile. Miltefosine had an acceptable safety profile, too and combined therapy is often recommended (6, 82).

#### 1.8.3 Anti-leishmanial drug candidates with focus on natural and natural like products

Given the above mentioned scenario, development of new, less toxic and more cost-effective drugs, which could become available for low-income populations to treat the disease has become a necessity (81). In recent years, there has been growing interest in alternative natural products and plant compounds as promising class of drug candidates against leishmaniasis (79), since these products may be safe, effective and economically feasible for the treatment of leishmaniasis. The secondary metabolites of plants have been demonstrated to be beneficial against diverse groups of pathogens such as viruses, bacteria and fungi. Various herbal formulations and plant secondary metabolites such as isoflavonoids, polysaccharides, tannins, indoles and glucans are known to have different pharmacological profiles. Some important categories of natural products that have shown good or excellent anti-leishmanial properties are the quinones, the alkaloids (i.e. indoles, quinolines,

steroidal alkaloids) (86, 87), the terpenoids (i.e. monoterpenes, sesquiterpenes, saponins) (87-91), the sterols, the phenolics (i.e. flavonoids, chalcones, coumarins, tannins, lignans) (87, 89). In addition, substantial evidence from the literature indicates that essential oils (EO), volatile mixtures of compounds obtained from spices, aromatic herbs, fruits and flowers possess a wide spectrum of biological activities, among which it has been shown that several EOs, or their constituents, have inhibitory activity on *Leishmania* (92-95).

Within alkaloids, quinolines isolated from *Galipea longiflora* have been shown effect against New World cutaneous leishmaniasis in BALB/c mice and in vitro activity against the promastigote form of *Leishmania* (96). Indoles have been reported to exhibit significant antileishmanial activities against the promastigote form of *L. amazoniensis, L. major* and *L. donovani* (97). Steroidal alkaloids inhibits the growth of *L. amazoniensis, L. donovani* and *L. braziliensis* (97).

Within terpenoids, monoterpenes shows antileishmanial activity against promastigotes of twelve *Leishmania* species; an *in vitro* study indicates that the monoterpene linanool also exhibits strong antileishmanial activity against intracellular amastigotes (98). Sesquiterpenes have strong inhibitory effect against promastigotes of *Leishmania* and the sesquiterpene endoperoxide isolated from *Artemisia annua*, artemisinin (an established anti-malarial drug), demonstrated anti-promastigote activity, anti-amastigotes activity and *in vivo* activities in a murine model of infection. In fact, in a BALB/c model of VL, orally administered artemisinin effectively reduced both splenic weight and parasite burden (99, 100). Saponins isolated from *Astragalus oleifolius*, show notable growth inhibitory activity against amastigotes of *L. donovani*; moreover, none of these compounds possesses cytotoxicity on mammalian cells. Saponins obtained from the leaves of *Hedera helix* and *Buddleja madagascariensis* show leishmanicidal activity against *L. infantum* and *L. tropica*. Other saponins show potent antileishmanial activity against *L. major* (101).

Within sterols, compounds isolated from the Mexican plant *Pentalinon andrieuxii* exhibit significant *in vitro* antileishmanial activity against the promastigote and amastigote forms of *L. mexicana* (102).

Within phenolics, flavonoids seem to be promising drugs candidates for the treatment of all forms of leishmaniasis (103). Chalcones have been observed to possess potent antileishmanial activity, with strong inhibition of *L. major, L. tropica, L. braziliensis*, *L. donovani, L. amazonensis* and *L. infantum* (104, 105). Coumarins are an important class of polyphenolic compounds that shows significant *in vivo* antileishmanial activity against *L. amazonensis* and *L. major* (106). Lignans show activity against the amastigotes and the promastigotes form of different species (97).

Despite many compounds from plants and natural products-inspired molecules have shown good activity against Leishmania *in vitro* and in murine models, due to lack of investments in the field of neglected diseases such as leishmaniasis none of them has undergone clinical evaluation (83, 97).

#### 2. Aim of the study

Human leishmaniasis is spread worldwide, is endemic in around 100 countries including Southern Europe, Asia, Africa, and Latin America and causes high morbidity and mortality, but still it is included in the neglected tropical diseases, based on the limited resources invested in diagnosis, treatment and control, and on its strong association with poverty (4).

The incidence of human leishmaniasis has displayed a sharp increase since the early 1990s in Mediterranean countries of southern Europe. In recent years, a northward spread of leishmaniasis has been observed in Mediterranean Europe (2).

The real prevalence of this parasitic disease is unknown, but it has been demonstrated that clinical leishmaniasis cases usually represent the tip of an "infection iceberg"; several prospective studies have documented that many individuals that are infected with *Leishmania* do not manifest clinical disease, remaining asymptomatic. Nevertheless, data about the real prevalence of asymptomatic human carriers are scarce.

The diagnosis of VL is challenging and lacks standardized methods. Most of data about the reliability and accuracy of diagnostic methods are from studies performed in India and Brazil, not reflecting the current situation for leishmaniasis in the Mediterranean Europe.

Also chemotherapy has critical limitations, since currently available treatments are toxic, expensive and require long term regimens. Further, drug resistant *Leishmania* parasites are becoming a serious problem in the Indian subcontinent.

In this scenario, this study aimed to:

- determine the prevalence of asymptomatic infections in a pool of blood donors in the municipality of Valsamoggia (Bologna province), where increase of VL cases has been reported in 2013 and 2014 (study I);

30

- compare the performance of nine different serological tests in the diagnosis of autochthonous VL in northern Italy and to determine a valid screening test for serodiagnosis of VL (study II);

- assess the antileishmanial activity of a library of newly synthesized chalcones, by evaluating the ability to affect parasite growth and the affinity of novel molecules toward the parasitic trypanothione reductase enzyme, in order to identify novel potential antileishmanial drugs (study III).

#### 3. Methods

The research was carried out at the Regional Reference Centre for Microbiological Emergencies (CRREM), at the Sant'Orsola-Malpighi University Hospital of Bologna, Italy.

#### 3.1 Study I

#### 3.1.1 Study design

For the first study there were analyzed samples of blood donors residing in Valsamoggia, an Italian district of 30.071 citizens in the Bologna province, Emilia-Romagna region. The study was designed as evaluation of the prevalence of asymptomatic carriers residing in Valsamoggia district. 260 blood donor's samples were collected at the CRREM laboratory from 1 April 2014 to 31 March 2015, none of the donors have shown previous clinical manifestation of VL. Samples were taken from the Transfusion Unit, Maggiore Hospital of Bologna and sent to the CRREM laboratory within 5 days from the collection of blood sample. The prevalence of asymptomatic infections were evaluated with a serological assay and a molecular assay.

#### 3.1.2 Serological and molecular tests

Samples were centrifuge at 1500 rpm for 10 minutes, 500  $\mu$ l of serum and 300  $\mu$ l of buffy coat were collected for each blood sample then stored at – 20 °C.

<u>Serological testing</u> was performed by a commercial western blot kit: Leishmania WESTERN BLOT IgG – LDBio Dianostics® (Lyon, France). The western blot technique provides detailed antibody responses to various leishmanial antigens.

Specific 14-kDa and 16-kDa proteins of *L.infantum* are electrotransferred onto a nitrocellulose membrane and probed with serum from the patient. The presence on the strip of the bands is indicative of the evidence of specific anti-Leishmania IgG in the serum.

Home-made molecular methods were used to detect leishmanial DNA in buffy coats. Nucleic acids were extracted from 300 µL buffy coat with QIAsymphony SP/AS instruments, Qiagen® (Hilden, Germany). DNA was eluted in 200µL of elution buffer. DNA was amplified employing one realtime PCR assay, (18) that amplifying the kinetoplast(k)DNA (19). Primers (15 pmol of RV1 5'-5'-CTTTTCTGGTCCTCCGGGTAGG-3', 15 of RV2 pmol CCACCCGGCCCTATTTTACACCAA-3' for kDNA PCR) were synthesized by PrimmBiotech (Milan, Italy) and 50 pmol of TaqManprobes (FAM-TTTTCGCAGAACGCCCCTACCCGC-TAMRA for kDNA PCR) were synthesized by IDTDNA (Leuven, Belgium). The real-time PCR assays were performed by employing the CFX Real Time PCR detection System (Bio-Rad, California, USA). B2-microglobulin real-time PCR assay was run simultaneously as a control of amplification of the extracted DNA.

#### 3.2 Study II

#### 3.2.1 Study design

This study was designed as a retrospective comparative study of serological methods performed on77 human serum samples chosen from those arrived to the CRREM laboratory between 2013 and 2015. During 2013-2015, samples of patients with suspected VL residing in the Emilia-Romagna region were sent to the CRREM laboratory, where microbiological diagnosis of VL was performed by molecular and serological methods. Autochthonous VL was confirmed in 27 out of 77 cases and dismissed in the other 50 cases. Specificity, sensitivity, positive predictive value (PPV), negative predictive value (NPV) of nine commercial serological assays were evaluated. Diagnosis of VL was established by the case definition of the World Health Organization, which describes a case of VL as a patient showing characteristic clinical signs with serological and/or parasitological confirmation. Standardized clinical evidence were combined with frontline diagnosis by serology

supported by real-time PCR as second line parasitological test. Subsequently, samples were archived and stored at -80 °C.

#### 3.2.2 Test methods/serological assays

Index tests included nine serological assays, all of them were commercial products.

IFAT: Leishmania-Spot IF – BioMérieux® (Marcy l'Etoile, France). It detects IgG antibodies against *L.infantum*; promastigote form is the antigen, obtainted from in vitro culture, inactivated and coated on slides. Samples were considered positive when specific IgG titer was equal or above 1/160.

ICT: i) Leishmania Dipstick Rapydtest – APACOR® (Wokingham, England); ii) On Site Leishmania IgG/IgM Combo Rapid Test – CTK Biotech ® (San Diego, USA); iii) Leishmania Strip Quick Test – CYPRESS Diagnotics ® (Langdorp, Belgium). A qualitative membrane-based immunoassay with nitrocellulose strips impregnated with recombinant K39 Leishmania antigen, it detects specific antibodies against rK39. Tests were performed according to the manufacturers'instructions.

ELISA: i) Leishmania ELISA IgG + IgM – VIRCELL Microbiologists® (Granada, Spain); ii) Leishmania Ab ELISA – CYPRESS Diagnotics ® (Langdorp, Belgium); iii) Leishmania infantum IgG – ELISA - NOVATECH® (Bologna, Italy); iv) Leishmania Ab - RIDASCREEN® (Darmstadt, Germany).

Tests were performed according to the manufacturers'instructions. For the detection of antibodies all tests used soluble inactivated antigens of *L.infantum*. OD were determinated at 450 nm, Samples were classified as positive, negative, or indeterminate according to the manufacturers'cut off values.

WB: Leishmania WESTERN BLOT IgG – LDBio Dianostics® (Lyon, France). The western blot technique provides detailed antibody responses to various leishmanial antigens.

Specific 14-kDa and 16-kDa proteins of *L.infantum* are electrotransferred onto a nitrocellulose membrane and probed with serum from the patient. The presence on the strip of the bands is indicative of the evidence of specific anti-Leishmania IgG in the serum.

#### 3.3 Study III

#### 3.3.1 Study design

Thirty-three newly synthesized chalcones have been screened to assess their anti-leishmanial potential. The study was designed as analysis of synthetic natural product-inspired molecules as anti-leishmanial candidates, by evaluating the ability to affect parasite growth and to inhibit the protozoan enzyme trypanothione reductase (TR), an essential enzyme for *Leishmania* metabolism, that is not present in human cells.

#### **3.3.2** Chalcone synthesis

All the chalcone derivatives used in the present study have been readily synthesized through the classic base-catalyzed Claisen-Schmidt procedure. In particular, the selected acetophenone was reacted at room temperature with the appropriate aldehyde in ethyl alcohol and in the presence of a 50% KOH/H2O solution, to give the desired final compounds. The acetophenone intermediates were obtained by reaction of 2,4-dihydroxyacetophenone with the appropriate alkyl bromide to obtain the 2-OH,4-alkoxyacetophenones;reaction with methyl iodide allowed obtaining the 2-methoxy,4-alkoxyacetophenones.

#### 3.3.3 Drug susceptibility tests

Promastigote forms of reference strain of *L. donovani* (MHOM/NP/02/BPK282/0cl4) were cultured at 26°C in a liquid custom made medium. Cell culture THP1 (human leukemia monocytic cell line), used for the anti-amastigote assay, were cultured at 37°C in liquid medium. Cell culture VERO

(kidney of African green monkey cell line), used for the cytotoxicity assay, were cultured at 37°C in liquid medium.

The promastigote growth inhibition assay was carried out incubating promastigotes in 96-well plates with tested compounds (at micromolar concentration, range 40  $\mu$ M – 1.5  $\mu$ M), the effect of the chalcones was evaluated by the AlamarBlue® assay (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Massachusetts, USA). To estimate the concentrations at which compounds cause 50% inhibition of growth (IC50) the AlamarBlue method based on monitoring the reducing environment (reduction of resazurin into fluorescent resorufin) of proliferating cells was employed and absorbance was measured at 550 nm and 630 nm.

For the anti-amastigote assay, human acute monocytic leukemia cell line (THP1) infected with promastigotes was used. Cells were seeded in a 96-well plate, after 48 h promastigotes were inoculated, phagocytized and transformed into amastigotes and after 24 test compounds were added. After a 72 h incubation, wells were washed, fixed and Giemsa stained and the infectivity index (% of infected macrophages x average number of amastigotes per macrophage) was determined microscopically.

#### **3.3.4** Cytotoxicity assays

For the citotoxicity test, mammalian kidney fibroblast cells (Vero cell line) were seeded in 96-well plates and incubated with test compounds (at micromolar concentration, range 40  $\mu$ M – 1.5  $\mu$ M) at 37°C. The effect of the chalcones was evaluated by the AlamarBlue® assay after 72 h of incubation. Absorbance was measured at 550 nm and 630 nm.

#### 3.3.5 Enzymatic screening

The ability of the compounds to bind the enzyme trypanothione reductase (TR) was assessed by Surface Plasmon Resonance studies whereas the ability to inhibit TR was assessed using
spectrophotometric TR assays by following the NADPH oxidation at 340 nm. This part was performed by the Institute of Molecular Biology and Pathology of CNR in Rome.

# 4. Results

#### 4.1 Study I

For the first study, 260 samples of blood donors residing in a municipality of the Bologna province (ie Valsamoggia) were collected and sent to the CRREM laboratory from 1 April 2014 to 31 March 2015. The prevalence of asymptomatic infections was evaluated by WB and by real-time PCR.

Antibody anti-*Leishmania* were detected by WB in serum of 27 out of 260 blood donors, with a seroprevalence of 10.4% (Fig.1). Fifteen out of 27 positive recognized the 16-kD antigen (P16 band), 10 sera out of 27 recognized the 14-kD antigen (P14 band) and 2 out 27 recognized both the specific bands (P14 and P16) (Fig. 3). Following the manufacturers' instructions, sera were considered WB positive if one band or both bands were detectable.

*Leishmania* DNA was detected by real-time PCR in buffy coat of 4 out of 260 blood donors (Fig 2), samples were considered positive when the threshold cycle (CT) value was not higher than 38 cycles (Fig.4).

Among the samples positive for *Leishmania* kDNA, 1 out of 4 corresponded with a positivity to anti-*Leishmania* antibody by WB with the presence on the strip of band P14. In the other three PCR cases, no specific antibodies were detected.

# 4.2 Study II

Since 2013, blood samples from patients with a clinical suspicion of VL and resident in the Emilia-Romagna region were sent to the C.R.R.E.M. laboratory; microbiological diagnosis of VL was performed by molecular and serological methods. Samples were kept frozen at  $-80^{\circ}$  after tests execution.

The samples for the study were selected in April 2014 and analyses were performed between June 2015 and September 2015. 77 serum specimens were chosen, 27 patients were identified as VL

cases while in the remaining 50 patients VL was excluded by parasitological and serological analysis. The mean age of patients was 44 (range 1 month – 87 years). 51 patients were male (66%), 26 were female (34%). Fifteen patients were children (range 1 month – 13 years), 12 patients (15.6%) were HIV-positive and one patient suffered of a hematological malignancy in terminal stage (Fig.5).

#### 4.2.1 Performance of the ICT

The diagnostic performance of the ICTs was low; as shown in Table 1, the sensitivity of ICT1 (Leishmania Dipstick Rapydtest – APACOR®) was 70%, the sensitivity of ICT2 (Leishmania IgG/IgM Combo Rapid Test – CTK Biotech ®) was 63% while ICT3 (Leishmania Strip Quick Test – CYPRESS Diagnotics ®) showed the lowest sensitivity, 52%. Specificity was uniformly high for all the ICTs (98%). The average of positive predictive value (PPV) and negative predictive value (NPV) were 95% and 83%, respectively. When evaluating sera from the five immunocompromised VL-positive patients, only one out of 5 tested positive with ICT2 and ICT3, while ICT1 tested positive in 2 out of 5 cases.

Among the VL negative cases, one out of 50 showed a positive result with ICT1 and ICT2. As the patient was not included in the study as a VL case and had no previous history of VL, this result was considered as a false positive result .

# 4.2.2 Performance of the ELISA

ELISA showed better performance than ICTs, by exhibiting an average sensitivity of 70%. As shown in Table 1, sensitivity of ELISA1 (Leishmania ELISA IgG + IgM – VIRCELL Microbiologists®) was 74%, sensitivity of ELISA2 (Leishmania Ab ELISA – CYPRESS Diagnotics) was 81%, sensitivity of ELISA3 (Leishmania infantum IgG – ELISA - NOVATECH®) and ELISA4 (Leishmania Ab – RIDASCREEN®) was 63%. In contrast, no significant difference was found between tests' specificity, with an average value of 97%. ELISA1 showed a PPV of 95%

and a NPV of 88%, ELISA2 showed a PPV of 100% and the best NPV (91%), ELISA3 showed a PPV of 100% and a NPV of 83%, while PPV and NPV values of ELISA4 were significantly lower, 81% and 82%, respectively.

Among the immunocompromised VL-positive patients, 2 out of 5 tested positive with all the ELISA.

# 4.2.3 Performance of the IFAT

As shown in Table 1, the diagnostic performance of IFAT to identify VL was significantly higher, with a sensitivity of 96%, a specificity of 100%, a PPV of 100% and a NPV of 98%.

Concerning the immunocompromised VL-positive patients, 4 out of 5 tested positive (antibody titer > 1/80) or borderline (antibody titer = 1/80), the last case exhibited a negative result.

# 4.2.4 Performance of the western blot test

WB test exhibited en excellent sensitivity with a value of 96%, but modest specificity, with a value of 88%; the PPV was 81% and the NPV was 98% (Table 1).

#### 4.2.5 Comparison of the tests

The sensitivity of ICTs was modest, with an average value of 62% (Table 1). ELISA showed a better performance than ICTs (average sensitivity of 70%), with high fluctuation of sensitivity among the 4 different kits (range 63%-81%), ELISA2 exhibited the best performance (81%). Conversely, IFAT and WB exhibited en excellent sensitivity, both with a value of 96%.

The specificity of the tests ranged from 88% to 100% (Table.1). All tests except for WB exhibited high specificity values (>92%).

The PPV values ranged from 90% to 100% except for WB (81%) and ELISA Ridascreen (81%). Conversely, the NPV was lower (range 79%-86%) except for WB, IFAT and ELISA2, respectively, 98%, 98% and 91% (Table 1).

By restricting results to immunocompetent patients (n=65), the overall sensitivity of serological tests increased significantly; ICTs range was 59%-77%, ELISA range was 68%-91%, IFAT and WB reached a sensitivity of 100% (Table 2). No significantly different specificity-values were recorded by restricting results to immunocompetent patients (Table 2).

The overall sensitivity and specificity of index tests is summarized in Table 1. Sensitivity values ranged from 52% to 96%, whereas specificity values ranged from 88% to 100%.

# 4.3 Study III

For the third study, 33 chalcones were obtained through the classic base-catalyzed Claisen-Schmidt procedure (as shown in Scheme 1). The A-ring of the chalcone scaffold was properly functionalized at the 2 and 4 positions: the C-4 position was occupied by a suitable alkoxy chain namely 3,3-dimethylallioxy (or prenyloxy) and propargyloxy (O-R), affording series 1 and 2, respectively; the C-2 position was differently functionalized by introduction of hydroxy, methoxy, prenyloxy, and propargyloxy groups (O-R1). In order to perform a Structure Activity Relationship (SAR) study and to explore the chemical space of the target, as B-ring, a pyridine or a substituted aryl function bearing some selected substituents (R2) such as methoxy, bromo, nitro, and fluorine were introduced (Scheme 2). This part was performed in collaboration with Dr. Belluti from the Department of Pharmacy and Biotechnologies (University of Bologna).

## 4.3.1 In vitro antileishmanial activity of chalcones

The *in vitro* antiparasitic activity of the newly synthetized chalcones against a reference strain of *L.donovani* (MHOM/NP/02/BPK282/0cl4) was determined. Drug susceptibility tests were

implemented on promastigotes at micromolar concentrations (range 40  $\mu$ M – 1.5  $\mu$ M) and the effect of the chalcones was evaluated by the AlamarBlue ® assay. The citotoxicity of the chalcones was analyzed on mammalian cell line (Vero cell line) by the same assay.

Compounds 1-33 were tested for their antiparasitic activity against the promastigotes, intracellular form of the parasite. Among them, for analogues 17-33 no antileishmanial effect was observed on *L. donovani* promastigotes (Table 4). Derivatives 1-16 turned out to effectively inhibit the parasite growth (IC<sub>50</sub> was calculated: a value that represent the concentration of a compound that causes 50% growth inhibition) with variation of the growth rate, ranging from 21.5  $\mu$ M of the compound 12 to 3 ± 1.3  $\mu$ M of the compound 6 (Table 3).

Considering series 1, the analogues with a simple phenyl function as B-ring and different substituents on the 2-position (7, 19-21), were, at the maximum tested dose, inactive with the exception of compound 7 which showed a double-digit inhibitory activity (IC<sub>50</sub> = 15  $\mu$ M). In this context, the nature of the substituent at the 2-position of the A-ring markedly affected the inhibitory behavior; the 2-methoxy-4-prenyloxy substitution pattern proved to be the most favorable and it was kept for all the remaining compounds of this series. The presence of a heterocyclic furyl group (compound 18) led to a loss of activity while a pyridyl moiety showed interesting  $IC_{50}$  values, ranging from 5 µM to 10.5 µM, notably the substituent at the 2-position (hydroxyl or methoxyl) did not significantly influenced potencies. The presence of electron-donating moieties such as methoxy groups on the B-ring (sub-set of compounds 8, 23, 24), gave different results, as only the bulky 3,4,5-trimethoxylated analogue 8 proved to inhibit parasite growth with IC<sub>50</sub> value of 11  $\mu$ M. The effect of the electron-withdrawing groups namely bromo, nitro, and fluoro (compounds 5, 6, and 22, respectively) in the para position was also investigated; compound 6 with the nitro substituent resulted to be the most active of all the series as it showed IC<sub>50</sub> value in the single-digit micromolar range (1.5  $\mu$ M), followed by the bromo-derivatives compound 5 (IC<sub>50</sub> = 16  $\mu$ M) which resulted two-times les active than compound 6.

Regarding series 2, the functionalization B-ring gave different results: regarding to the para position, the bromo moiety allowed obtaining good antileishmanial agents as compounds **12** and **15**, the 2-methoxylated and 2-propargyloxylated analogues, respectively, showed micromolar activities being as active as compound **5**; surprisingly, inactive compounds were obtained with the insertion of a nitro substituent (compounds **25** and **26**). The same detrimental effects were elicited by the 3,4,5-trimethoxy substitution pattern (compounds **27**, **28**). Interestingly, compound **16** turned out to effectively inhibit leishmania growth. The pyridine-based subset (compounds **9-11**, **13**, **14**) gave, analogously to series 1, excellent results, as low micromolar activities were generally detected.

In parallel, the cytotoxicity of the molecules was tested using mammalian kidney epithelial cells (Vero cell line) for the compounds which have shown any inhibition against promastigotes (1-16). Data were expressed as 50% citotoxic concentration ( $CC_{50}$ ). Moreover the selectivity index (SI) was calculated based on  $CC_{50}$  / IC<sub>50</sub> ratio.

The tested compounds generally displayed moderate to very low cytotoxicity. with  $CC_{50}$  values superior to 30  $\mu$ M. In particular, analogues **5**, **6**, **12**, **15**, and **16** were characterized by the absence of toxicity that, combined with an effective inhibition of parasite proliferation, led to a promising selectivity index (SI). On the contrary, the pyridine-based chalcones, due to their moderate cytotoxic effects, showed an unfavorable SI with values ranging from 2 to 3.8.

These assays allowed to identify two lead molecules, compounds **6** and **16**, as the most promising of the series. Indeed, these molecules showed a remarkable antileishmanial potency against the extracellular form of the parasite ( $IC_{50} = 3 \pm 1.3 \mu M$  and  $12.5 \pm 2.25 \mu M$ , respectively), coupled with an excellent SI (above 20). These two compounds were further evaluated on intracellular amastigotes of *L.donovani* in THP-1 cells (human acute monocytic leukemia cells line). Evaluation on the inhibition of the growth of the intracellular form of *Leishmania* confirmed the low micromolar trend of inhibition. Notably, compound **16** ( $IC_{50} = 4.5 \pm 2 \mu M$ ) was more active than

compound 6 (IC<sub>50</sub> =  $14 \pm 7.8 \mu$ M) in blocking the growth of amastigotes, highlighting divergent abilities in inhibiting promastigote and amastigote growth for the two compounds (Figure 6).

# 4.3.2 Evaluation of the Inhibition of trypanothione reductase (TR)

This part of the study was performed in collaboration with dr. Andrea Ilari from CNR, Institute of Molecular Biology and Pathology of Rome. Compound **6** and compound **16** also showed a high binding affinity to TR (Kd = 0.6  $\mu$ M and 2.4  $\mu$ M, respectively), resulting in an effective enzyme inhibition (IC<sub>50</sub> = 0.8  $\mu$ M and 3  $\mu$ M, respectively). A peculiar feature of this ADPH-dependent disulfide oxidoreductase is the presence of cysteine residues in the catalytic triad, which could explain the affinity of the compounds for this enzyme.



Figure 1 Pie chart representingblood donors that tested positive by western blot for antileishmanial antibodies.



Figure 2 Pie chart representing the blood donors that tested positive by real-time PCR for leishmanial DNA.



**Figure 3** WB strips: nr. **17** a positive case with P14 and P16 band. Nr. **22** a positive sample with P14 band. Nr. **19** low positivity of P14 band. Nr **20** a negative sample.



Figure 4 Real-time PCR of (scrivi almeno il gene di Leishmania che vai a testare..). Amplification plot with  $\beta$ 2globulin curves (mixed colours), the positive control curve (purple) and a positive curve (blue) from a blood donor sample.



Figure 5 Age and sex distribution of the VL cases included in Study 2 (n=27)

	IC 95%				IC 95%	
TEST	Sensitivity %	LL	UL	Specificity %	LL	UL
ICT 1	70	50	85	96	85	99
ICT 2	63	42	80	98	88	100
ICT 3	52	32	71	100	91	100
ELISA 1	74	53	88	98	88	100
ELISA 2	81	61	93	100	91	100
ELISA 3	63	42	80	100	91	100
ELISA 4	63	42	80	92	80	97
IFAT	96	80	100	100	91	100
WB	96	80	100	88	75	95

 Table 1 Performance of serological tests for VL diagnosis on the study population (n=77)

	IC 95%				IC 95%	
TEST	Sensitivity %	LL	UL	Specificity %	LL	UL
ICT 1	77	54	91	95	83	100
ICT 2	73	50	88	98	86	100
ICT 3	59	37	78	100	90	100
ELISA 1	82	59	94	98	86	100
ELISA 2	91	69	98	100	90	100
ELISA 3	68	45	85	100	90	100
ELISA 4	68	45	85	91	77	97
IFAT	100	81	100	100	90	100
WB	100	81	100	86	71	94

Table 2 Performance of serological tests for VL diagnosis in immunocompetent subjects (n=65)



Scheme 1 Reagents and conditions: a) alkylbromide/ K2CO3, acetone, reflux; b) KOH/H2O, EtOH, rt, 18h



Scheme 2 Structure of licochalchone A and General structure of the synthetized compounds



Figure 6 Comparison between antipromastigote and antiamastigote activity of compound 6 and compound 16.

		In vitro a		
Compound	Structure	Promastigotes IC₅₀ (μM)¹	Vero CC₅o (µM)²	SI <sup>3</sup>
1		5	40	8
2		8.5	32	3.8
3		10.5	32	3
4		10.5	40	3.8
5		16	> 300	> 18.7
6		1.5	> 300	> 200
7		15	100	6.6
8	Loolo Yo	11	40	3.6
9		17.5	40	2.3
10		4	20	5
11	O N	9.5	20	2.1
12		21.5	> 80	3.7
13		7	20	2.8
14		4	8	2
15		. 15	> 200	13.3
16		- 15	> 300	> 20

**Table 3** Chemical structure of active compounds, in vitro antileishmanial activity against promastigotes of *L. donovani*, cytotoxicity and selectivity index (SI) of the synthesized compounds

Compound	Structure	Promastigote (IC50 µM)	Vero CC50 (µM)	SI
17	Loo Coo Coo	n.i.	n.d.	n.d.
18		n.i.	n.d.	n.d.
19		n.i.	n.d.	n.d.
20		n.i.	n.d.	n.d.
21		n.i.	n.d.	n.d.
22		n.i.	n.d.	n.d.
23		n.i.	n.d.	n.d.
24		n.i.	n.d.	n.d.
25		n.i.	n.d.	n.d.
26		<sup>2</sup> n.i.	n.d.	n.d.
27		n.i.	n.d.	n.d.
28		n.i.	n.d.	n.d.
29		n.i.	n.d.	n.d.
30		n.i.	n.d.	n.d.
31		n.i.	n.d.	n.d.
32	Сторон	n.i.	n.d.	n.d.
33		n.i.	n.d.	n.d.

**Table 4.** Chemical structure of inactive compounds, in vitro antileishmanial activity against promastigotes of *L. donovani*, cytotoxicity and selectivity index (SI) of the synthesized compounds. n.i.; Not inhibiting up to 40  $\mu$ M. n.d.: Not determined due to the low antileismanial potency.

# 5. Summary of the studies included in this thesis and general conclusions

Leishmaniasis is considered an emerging pathogen and as a consequence of global warming, may spread in countries previously regarded unfitting for the diffusion of this parasite. In southern Europe, leishmaniasis is endemic in different countries such as Spain, Portugal, Greece, France, Italy and the Balkans. In the last decades, *Leishmania* has spread northward (where sandflies were previously thought to be absent or present at low densities), as shown by recent reports from northern Italy and southern Germany (32-34).

In this regard, in the last few years, a dramatic increase of VL cases has been reported in the Emilia-Romagna region in north-eastern Italy, with a cluster of cases in some municipalities, among which there is the Valsamoggia district.

The real prevalence of this parasitic disease is unknown, but it has been demonstrated that the majority of infected individuals do not progress to patent leishmaniasis, therefore clinical cases usually represent the tip of an "infection iceberg". Nevertheless, even in asymptomatic carriers VL can develop because of reactivation from the previous dormant infection; this phenomenon occurs mainly upon a heterogeneous collection of medical conditions that hamper the immunological control to the parasite. The main cause of *Leishmania* reactivation is HIV co-infection. while the vast majority of non-HIV-related immunosuppressive conditions fall under the realm of transplantation medicine, rheumatology and haematology. VL reactivation has been reported after different types of organ transplantation, or also associated with the use of various immunosuppressive drugs (107).

Considering the number of individuals at risk of Leishmania reactivation, asymptomatic infection is one of the great challenges of the VL disease and several questions remain unresolved regarding these asymptomatic infections, for example whether asymptomatically infected persons are infectious to the sandflies and which factors can predict the development of VL. Because

identification of asymptomatic *Leishmania* infections is difficult, the real prevalence of asymptomatic carriers in endemic areas is largely unknown and epidemiological studies are needed to answer these questions.

In our epidemiological study (Study 1), we screened peripheral blood samples obtained from 260 blood donors living in Valsamoggia, a municipality of the Bologna province where human leishmaniasis is endemic. The *Leishmania*-specific antibodies were revealed by Western blotting in the sera of 27 donors (10.4%), which showed the characteristic 14- and/or 16-kDa bands. In addition, the presence of the parasitic DNA was evident in the blood of 4 healthy donors (1.5%), one of these DNA-positive individuals also showed antileishmanial antibodies. Taking together these results, the total prevalence of asymptomatic Leishmania infection in the Valsamoggia municipality was 11.5%. This finding suggests a high circulation of the parasite in the Bologna area. In line with the literature (108), our study confirm a high proportion of asymptomatic *Leishmania* carriers in endemic areas and how the clinical cases usually represent just the tip of an "infection iceberg".

False-positive and false-negative results cannot be excluded when one serological test is used to detect *Leishmania* infection, nonetheless Western blot has excellent sensitivity and specificity (109) and false-negative results are rare in our diagnostic experience and according to the literature. However, it is known that in asymptomatic carriers antileishmanial antibody titre in serum is low and antibodies may be absent (60, 110). According to this, we detected the presence of leishmanial DNA in the blood of three healthy donors that tested negative for specific antibodies.

Concerning molecular test, kDNA real-time PCR is known to be a highly sensitive and specific method to detect leishmanial DNA (74, 111). In accordance with the literature, we also demonstrated a an excellent sensitivity of this real-time PCR assay for the detection of VL cases (REF).

The fact that kDNA amplification was negative in 26/27 samples with a positive *Leishmania* serology could be explained by the presence of low parasite density and by the fact that parasitemia is probably episodic, hence, few targets were available for PCR amplification.

The importance of our results lies in the recognition of the presence of cryptic *Leishmania* infection among blood donors. At present, leukocyte depletion is performed in all blood products in Italy, but there are not enough evidence that show this is sufficient to prevent the transmission of *Leishmania* with blood transfusion. *Leishmania* testing is not mandatory in blood banks, but knowledge of positive *Leishmania* serology should impose blood elimination (112). Thus, a broader discussion would be required regarding the need to implement specific screening strategies for *Leishmania* in blood donors and to quantify the risk of *Leishmania* transmission by blood transfusion and by graft transplant.

An additional challenge for VL, due to the limited resources invested, is the lack of standardized diagnostic methods. Human leishmaniasis is spreading in Europe and Italy in areas previously considered to be not-endemic or at low endemicity. For example, the Emilia-Romagna region, an endemic region with a low prevalence of cases, assisted to an increased number of autochthonous VL cases in the last years (34).

In this scenario, the need of appropriate diagnostic methods seems mandatory. A few data are available about Mediterranean VL and information about diagnostic assays are scarce or relating to tropical and subtropical countries with a different socio-economic status compared to our situation.

For this reason, the aim of Study 2 was to compare the effectiveness of nine commercially available serological tests to detect VL cases. These tests were evaluated for diagnostic sensitivity and specificity against two different populations, 27 VL positive cases and 50 VL negative subjects from the Emilia-Romagna region.

In contrast to previous evidences (71, 113), we found that ICTs based on rk39 are less effective than other serological tests, showing low sensitivity and specificity. This low performance, compared to studies in other countries (i.e. India, Nepal ) (114), could be connected to genetic differences in human populations that lead to a strongest or lower host immune response against the antigen used in the ICTs. Another explanation for the variable sensitivity of the ICTs in different regions of the worls could be attributed to genetic variability of the parasitic strains circulating in different areas (115).

Concerning ELISA, all but one kit exhibited moderate results in terms of sensitivity; conversely, IFAT and WB exhibited excellent sensitivity, but low specificity was observed for WB. The reason for the lower specificity of WB may be the high efficiency in detecting antileishmanial antibodies, also in asymptomatic carriers probably present within the VL-negative group.

A known obstacle to serodiagnosis of VL is the low antibody response within immunocompromised subjects; by restricting the results of serological tests to immunocompetent patients, the average sensitivity increased for each assay, with optimal sensitivity of ELISA 2, IFAT and WB, 91%, 100%, 100%, respectively.

It is known that a high sensitivity in serological test is crucial in the diagnosis of VL as missing VL diagnosis would lead to patients death. Our study highlights the complexity of VL serodiagnosis; the different tests that we evaluated revealed variable diagnostic performance, none of these tests appeared to be optimal for the use as screening test, even though ELISA 2 outperforms all of the other ELISA tests and ICTs. IFAT and WB showed optimal sensitivity, but their cost and complexity in execution would not allow their employment as screening tests, nonetheless these tests are recommendable as confirmatory test in the diagnosis of Mediterranean VL or as front line tests when the number of samples in the diagnostic routine is limited.

Finally, it is important to highlight that when serological results in immunocompromised patients are negative, molecular tests are needed before exclusion of VL.

As leishmaniasis is a neglected disease, treatment options are limited and therapy is often a challenge. All currently used first-line and second-line drugs for the treatment of leishmaniasis have several drawbacks including cost, toxicity, invasive route of administration and risk of emergence of drug resistance. Despite the urgence for the development of new drugs for treating this parasitic infection, a recent study has revealed that during the last 6 years, only one drug has been approved for the treatment of leishmaniasis (87). Historically, natural products (NP) are a good strategy when searching for new bioactive compounds, as they provide a basis for both design and synthesis of derivative compounds that can optimize biological activity and minimize side effects (116).

Combining the need for new active compounds against leishmaniasis and the known potential of natural products to provide chemical structures, which can be used as prototypes for new drugs, Study 3 aimed to highlight the use of a group of natural products, ie chalcones, as potential source of anti-leishmanial agents.

Chalcones (1,3-diaryl-2-propen-1-ones), members of the flavonoid family, occupy a special role among the biologically active NPs, since the trans- $\alpha$ , $\beta$ -unsaturated carbonyl function, being a Michael acceptor system, could establish covalent linkages with the cysteine residue of a number of target proteins. Therefore, chalcones could be regarded as a class of protein-reactive compounds and, as expected, they have a large variety of biological activities, including antioxidant, antibacterial, antiprotozoal, antimutagenic, antimitotic, antimetastatic, and anti-inflammatory activity (117).

The antiparasitic properties of natural chalcones have been extensively investigated, in particular, licochalcone A (Scheme 2), a constituent of roots and rhizomes of various species of *Glycyrrhiza L*.

(licorice root), was found to be endowed with antiparasitic effects namely leishmanicidal and antiplasmodial activity (118, 119).

A series of chalcone analogues with various structural features were prepared based on natural product lead and tested for their antileishmanial activity. Among the 33 tested compounds, the derivatives from **1** to **16** turned out to effectively inhibit the promastigotes growth in *in vitro* evaluation against *L.donovani*. In particular, the analogues **6** and **16** were found to be the most promising of the series as they showed a remarkable antileishmanial potency against the extracellular form of the parasite, coupled with an excellent SI (above 20) and a recognizable activity against the amastigote stage of the parasite in *L.donovani* infected macrophages.

For pathogens displaying several life stages like *Leishmania*, there is a need to determine the best parasite stage to target. In the case of *Leishmania* there are two options: first, targeting the extracellular living promastigote stage, second, the intracellular amastigote stage. The first option meet the reproducibility, rapidity and low cost requirements for high-throughput screenings, due to the ease in manipulating promastigotes. The intracellular amastigote stage has been logically designated as the more relevant target for primary screening against *Leishmania*, but methods are labor intensive and would not support automation as the required Giemsa staining of infected macrophages is cumbersome as it needs manual counting. Thus, screening against the intracellular parasite stage were performed only on the two analogues that showed the best activity against the extracellular parasite stage.

Why compound **16** affects intracellular parasite better than compound **6**, in contrast with their inhibition on the extracellular parasite stage is not clear, but we can speculate that compound **16** has a better host cell-dependent mechanism of action than compound **6**.

Several antileishmanial drugs present a non-specific mode of action that accounts for their high toxicity. Thus, the discovery of new chemical entities targeting specific and indispensable

components of parasite metabolism is a priority. The thiol-dependent redox metabolism, required for DNA synthesis and defense against oxidative stress, is one of the unique metabolic features that distinguish trypanosomatids from humans and offer reliable molecular targets for selective drug development (120). In the thiol metabolism, it has already been shown that trypanothione reductase (TR), an enzyme that belong to the protein family of FAD disulfide oxidoreductases, becomes an attractive target for the development of new drugs; our experiments show that TR is strongly inhibited *in vitro* by chalcones, especially by compounds **6** and **16**.

In conclusion, the good inhibition of *L.donovani* replication the lack of toxicity on human cells and the ability to bind and likely inhibit a crucial parasite enzyme such as TR are all factors that highlight the potential for our newly synthetized chalcones to be optimized and developed into more specific agents against leishmaniasis. Therefore, efforts will be put to the modification of these scaffolds in order to synthetize better antileishmanial chalcones, to try to identify new critical targets and additional mechanism of action.

# References

1. Steverding D (2017) The history of leishmaniasis. *Parasit Vectors*; **10**: 82.

Dujardin JC, Campino L, Cañavate C, Dedet JP, Gradoni L, Soteriadou K, et al. (2008)
 Spread of vector-borne diseases and neglect of Leishmaniasis, Europe. *Emerg Infect Dis;*14: 1013 8.

3. Kaye P, Scott P (2011) Leishmaniasis: complexity at the host-pathogen interface. *Nat Rev Microbiol*;**9**: 604-15.

4. Alvar J, Vélez ID, Bern C, Herrero M, Desjeux P, Cano J, et al. (2012) Leishmaniasis worldwide and global estimates of its incidence. *PLoS One;***7**: e35671.

5. Akhoundi M, Kuhls K, Cannet A, Votýpka J, Marty P, Delaunay P, et al. (2016) A Historical Overview of the Classification, Evolution, and Dispersion of Leishmania Parasites and Sandflies. *PLoS Negl Trop Dis;***10**: e0004349.

6. WHO. (2010) Control of the leishmaniases: report of a meeting of the WHO Expert Committee on the Control of Leishmaniases, Geneva, 22-26 March 2010. *Control of the leishmaniases: report of a meeting of the WHO Expert Committee on the Control of Leishmaniases, Geneva, 22-26 March 2010.* 

7. Pace D (2014) Leishmaniasis. *J Infect*;**69 Suppl 1**: S10-8.

8. Van der Auwera G, Dujardin JC (2015) Species typing in dermal leishmaniasis. *Clin Microbiol Rev*;28: 265-94.

9. Bañuls AL, Hide M, Prugnolle F (2007) Leishmania and the leishmaniases: a parasite genetic update and advances in taxonomy, epidemiology and pathogenicity in humans. *Adv Parasitol*;**64**: 1-109.

10. Gramiccia M (2011) Recent advances in leishmaniosis in pet animals: epidemiology, diagnostics and anti-vectorial prophylaxis. *Vet Parasitol*;**181**: 23-30.

11. Chang KP, Fong D (1983) Cell biology of host-parasite membrane interactions in leishmaniasis. *Ciba Found Symp*;**99**: 113-37.

Savoia D (2015) Recent updates and perspectives on leishmaniasis. J Infect Dev Ctries;9:
 588-96.

 Ready PD (2013) Biology of phlebotomine sand flies as vectors of disease agents. *Annu Rev Entomol*;58: 227-50.

14. Bichaud L, Souris M, Mary C, Ninove L, Thirion L, Piarroux RP, et al. (2011) Epidemiologic relationship between Toscana virus infection and Leishmania infantum due to common exposure to Phlebotomus perniciosus sandfly vector. *PLoS Negl Trop Dis;***5**: e1328.

15. Claborn DM (2010) The biology and control of leishmaniasis vectors. J Glob Infect Dis;2:127-34.

16. Signorini M, Cassini R, Drigo M, Frangipane di Regalbono A, Pietrobelli M, Montarsi F, et al. (2014) Ecological niche model of Phlebotomus perniciosus, the main vector of canine leishmaniasis in north-eastern Italy. *Geospat Health*;**9**: 193-201.

17. Maroli M, Feliciangeli MD, Bichaud L, Charrel RN, Gradoni L (2013) Phlebotomine sandflies and the spreading of leishmaniases and other diseases of public health concern. *Med Vet Entomol*;**27**: 123-47.

18. Molina R, Gradoni L, Alvar J (2003) HIV and the transmission of Leishmania. *Ann Trop Med Parasitol*;97 Suppl 1: 29-45.

19. Carlier Y, Truyens C, Deloron P, Peyron F (2012) Congenital parasitic infections: a review. *Acta Trop*;**121**: 55-70.

20. Mansueto P, Seidita A, Vitale G, Cascio A (2014) Transfusion transmitted leishmaniasis. What to do with blood donors from endemic areas? *Travel Med Infect Dis;***12**: 617-27.

21. Figueiró-Filho EA, El Beitune P, Queiroz GT, Somensi RS, Morais NO, Dorval ME, et al. (2008) Visceral leishmaniasis and pregnancy: analysis of cases reported in a central-western region of Brazil. *Arch Gynecol Obstet*;**278**: 13-6.

22. Turchetti AP, Souza TD, Paixão TA, Santos RL (2014) Sexual and vertical transmission of visceral leishmaniasis. *J Infect Dev Ctries*;**8**: 403-7.

23. Zinchuk A, Nadraga A (2010) Congenital visceral leishmaniasis in Ukraine: case report. *Ann Trop Paediatr*;**30**: 161-4.

Jimenez-Marco T, Fisa R, Girona-Llobera E, Cancino-Faure B, Tomás-Pérez M, Berenguer
D, et al. (2016) Transfusion-transmitted leishmaniasis: a practical review. *Transfusion*;56 Suppl 1: S45-51.

25. Ashford RW (1996) Leishmaniasis reservoirs and their significance in control. *Clin Dermatol*;14: 523-32.

26. Quinnell RJ, Courtenay O (2009) Transmission, reservoir hosts and control of zoonotic visceral leishmaniasis. *Parasitology*;**136**: 1915-34.

27. Pennisi MG, Hartmann K, Lloret A, Addie D, Belák S, Boucraut-Baralon C, et al. (2013) Leishmaniosis in cats: ABCD guidelines on prevention and management. *J Feline Med Surg*;**15**: 638-42.

28. Oryan A, Akbari M (2016) Worldwide risk factors in leishmaniasis. Asian Pac J Trop Med;9: 925-32.

29. Abubakar A, Ruiz-Postigo JA, Pita J, Lado M, Ben-Ismail R, Argaw D, et al. (2014) Visceral leishmaniasis outbreak in South Sudan 2009-2012: epidemiological assessment and impact of a multisectoral response. *PLoS Negl Trop Dis*;**8**: e2720.

30. Du R, Hotez PJ, Al-Salem WS, Acosta-Serrano A (2016) Old World Cutaneous Leishmaniasis and Refugee Crises in the Middle East and North Africa. *PLoS Negl Trop Dis;***10**: e0004545.

31. Gradoni L (2013) Epidemiological surveillance of leishmaniasis in the European Union: operational and research challenges. *Euro Surveill;***18**: 20539.

32. Bogdan C, Schönian G, Bañuls AL, Hide M, Pratlong F, Lorenz E, et al. (2001) Visceral leishmaniasis in a German child who had never entered a known endemic area: case report and review of the literature. *Clin Infect Dis*;**32**: 302-6.

33. Maroli M, Rossi L, Baldelli R, Capelli G, Ferroglio E, Genchi C, et al. (2008) The northward spread of leishmaniasis in Italy: evidence from retrospective and ongoing studies on the canine reservoir and phlebotomine vectors. *Trop Med Int Health*;**13**: 256-64.

34. Varani S, Cagarelli R, Melchionda F, Attard L, Salvadori C, Finarelli AC, et al. (2013) Ongoing outbreak of visceral leishmaniasis in Bologna Province, Italy, November 2012 to May 2013. *Euro Surveill*;**18**: 20530.

35. McCall LI, Zhang WW, Matlashewski G (2013) Determinants for the development of visceral leishmaniasis disease. *PLoS Pathog*;**9**: e1003053.

36. Ameen M (2010) Cutaneous leishmaniasis: advances in disease pathogenesis, diagnostics and therapeutics. *Clin Exp Dermatol*;**35**: 699-705.

37. Ritter U, Frischknecht F, van Zandbergen G (2009) Are neutrophils important host cells for Leishmania parasites? *Trends Parasitol*;25: 505-10.

38. de Menezes JP, Saraiva EM, da Rocha-Azevedo B (2016) The site of the bite: Leishmania interaction with macrophages, neutrophils and the extracellular matrix in the dermis. *Parasit Vectors*;**9**: 264.

39. Kedzierski L, Evans KJ (2014) Immune responses during cutaneous and visceral leishmaniasis. *Parasitology*;1-19.

40. Rolão N, Cortes S, Gomes-Pereira S, Campino L (2007) Leishmania infantum: mixed Thelper-1/T-helper-2 immune response in experimentally infected BALB/c mice. *Exp Parasitol*;**115**: 270-6.

41. Ganguli P, Chowdhury S, Sarkar RR (2015) Identification of Th1/Th2 regulatory switch to promote healing response during leishmaniasis: a computational approach. *EURASIP J Bioinform Syst Biol*;2015: 13.

42. Sharma U, Singh S (2009) Immunobiology of leishmaniasis. *Indian J Exp Biol*;47: 412-23.

43. Mock DJ, Hollenbaugh JA, Daddacha W, Overstreet MG, Lazarski CA, Fowell DJ, et al. (2012) Leishmania induces survival, proliferation and elevated cellular dNTP levels in human monocytes promoting acceleration of HIV co-infection. *PLoS Pathog*;**8**: e1002635.

44. Lindoso JA, Cunha MA, Queiroz IT, Moreira CH (2016) Leishmaniasis-HIV coinfection: current challenges. *HIV AIDS (Auckl)*;8: 147-56.

45. Monge-Maillo B, Norman FF, Cruz I, Alvar J, López-Vélez R (2014) Visceral leishmaniasis and HIV coinfection in the Mediterranean region. *PLoS Negl Trop Dis;***8**: e3021.

46. David CV, Craft N (2009) Cutaneous and mucocutaneous leishmaniasis. *Dermatol Ther*;22: 491-502.

47. Ready PD (2014) Epidemiology of visceral leishmaniasis. *Clin Epidemiol*;6: 147-54.

48. Mahesh E, Madhyastha PR, Varma V, Gurudev KC (2016) Mucocutaneous and visceral leishmaniasis in renal transplant patient from nonendemic region. *Saudi J Kidney Dis Transpl*;27: 1059-62.

49. Richter J, Hanus I, Häussinger D, Löscher T, Harms G (2011) Mucosal Leishmania infantum infection. *Parasitol Res*;**109**: 959-62.

50. Nangia A, Sehgal S, Chander R (2014) Scrape cytology in localized oral mucosal leishmaniasis. *J Cytol*;**31**: 180-1.

51. Handler MZ, Patel PA, Kapila R, Al-Qubati Y, Schwartz RA (2015) Cutaneous and mucocutaneous leishmaniasis: Clinical perspectives. *J Am Acad Dermatol*;**73**: 897-908; quiz 9-10.

52. van Griensven J, Carrillo E, López-Vélez R, Lynen L, Moreno J (2014) Leishmaniasis in immunosuppressed individuals. *Clin Microbiol Infect*; **20**: 286-99.

53. Zanger P, Gabrysch S (2013) Leishmaniasis in the era of tumor necrosis factor alpha antagonist therapy--a research agenda for Europe. *Euro Surveill;***18**: 20542.

54. Guedes-Barbosa LS, Pereira da Costa I, Fernandes V, Henrique da Mota LM, de Menezes I, Aaron Scheinberg M (2013) Leishmaniasis during anti-tumor necrosis factor therapy: report of 4 cases and review of the literature (additional 28 cases). *Semin Arthritis Rheum*;**43**: 152-7.

55. Alves da Silva A, Pacheco-Silva A, de Castro Cintra Sesso R, Esmeraldo RM, Costa de Oliveira CM, Fernandes PF, et al. (2013) The risk factors for and effects of visceral leishmaniasis in graft and renal transplant recipients. *Transplantation*;**95**: 721-7.

56. Antinori S, Cascio A, Parravicini C, Bianchi R, Corbellino M (2008) Leishmaniasis among organ transplant recipients. *Lancet Infect Dis;***8**: 191-9.

57. Alvar J, Aparicio P, Aseffa A, Den Boer M, Cañavate C, Dedet JP, et al. (2008) The relationship between leishmaniasis and AIDS: the second 10 years. *Clin Microbiol Rev*;**21**: 334-59, table of contents.

58. Colomba C, Saporito L, Vitale F, Reale S, Vitale G, Casuccio A, et al. (2009) Cryptic Leishmania infantum infection in Italian HIV infected patients. *BMC Infect Dis;***9**: 199.

59. Bourgeois N, Lachaud L, Reynes J, Rouanet I, Mahamat A, Bastien P (2008) Long-term monitoring of visceral leishmaniasis in patients with AIDS: relapse risk factors, value of polymerase chain reaction, and potential impact on secondary prophylaxis. *J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr*;48: 13-9.

60. Singh OP, Hasker E, Sacks D, Boelaert M, Sundar S (2014) Asymptomatic Leishmania infection: a new challenge for Leishmania control. *Clin Infect Dis*;**58**: 1424-9.

61. Michel G, Pomares C, Ferrua B, Marty P (2011) Importance of worldwide asymptomatic carriers of Leishmania infantum (L. chagasi) in human. *Acta Trop*;**119**: 69-75.

62. Alvar J, Yactayo S, Bern C (2006) Leishmaniasis and poverty. *Trends Parasitol*;22: 552-7.

63. Biglino A, Bolla C, Concialdi E, Trisciuoglio A, Romano A, Ferroglio E (2010) Asymptomatic Leishmania infantum infection in an area of northwestern Italy (Piedmont region) where such infections are traditionally nonendemic. *J Clin Microbiol*;**48**: 131-6.

64. de Ruiter CM, van der Veer C, Leeflang MM, Deborggraeve S, Lucas C, Adams ER (2014) Molecular tools for diagnosis of visceral leishmaniasis: systematic review and meta-analysis of diagnostic test accuracy. *J Clin Microbiol*;**52**: 3147-55.

65. Chappuis F, Sundar S, Hailu A, Ghalib H, Rijal S, Peeling RW, et al. (2007) Visceral leishmaniasis: what are the needs for diagnosis, treatment and control? *Nat Rev Microbiol;***5**: 873-82.

66. Antinori S, Calattini S, Longhi E, Bestetti G, Piolini R, Magni C, et al. (2007) Clinical use of polymerase chain reaction performed on peripheral blood and bone marrow samples for the diagnosis and monitoring of visceral leishmaniasis in HIV-infected and HIV-uninfected patients: a single-center, 8-year experience in Italy and review of the literature. *Clin Infect Dis*;**44**: 1602-10.

67. Elmahallawy EK, Sampedro Martinez A, Rodriguez-Granger J, Hoyos-Mallecot Y, Agil A, Navarro Mari JM, et al. (2014) Diagnosis of leishmaniasis. *J Infect Dev Ctries*;**8**: 961-72.

68. Sakkas H, Gartzonika C, Levidiotou S (2016) Laboratory diagnosis of human visceral leishmaniasis. *J Vector Borne Dis;***53**: 8-16.

69. Cunningham J, Hasker E, Das P, El Safi S, Goto H, Mondal D, et al. (2012) A global comparative evaluation of commercial immunochromatographic rapid diagnostic tests for visceral leishmaniasis. *Clin Infect Dis;***55**: 1312-9.

70. Cañavate C, Herrero M, Nieto J, Cruz I, Chicharro C, Aparicio P, et al. (2011) Evaluation of two rK39 dipstick tests, direct agglutination test, and indirect fluorescent antibody test for diagnosis of visceral leishmaniasis in a new epidemic site in highland Ethiopia. *Am J Trop Med Hyg*;**84**: 102-

6.

71. Brandonisio O, Fumarola L, Maggi P, Cavaliere R, Spinelli R, Pastore G (2002) Evaluation of a rapid immunochromatographic test for serodiagnosis of visceral leishmaniasis. *Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis;***21**: 461-4.

72. Cota GF, de Sousa MR, Demarqui FN, Rabello A (2012) The diagnostic accuracy of serologic and molecular methods for detecting visceral leishmaniasis in HIV infected patients: meta-analysis. *PLoS Negl Trop Dis;***6**: e1665.

73. Srivastava P, Mehrotra S, Tiwary P, Chakravarty J, Sundar S (2011) Diagnosis of Indian visceral leishmaniasis by nucleic acid detection using PCR. *PLoS One;***6**: e19304.

74. Mary C, Faraut F, Lascombe L, Dumon H (2004) Quantification of Leishmania infantum DNA by a real-time PCR assay with high sensitivity. *J Clin Microbiol*;**42**: 5249-55.

75. Masmoudi A, Hariz W, Marrekchi S, Amouri M, Turki H (2013) Old World cutaneous leishmaniasis: diagnosis and treatment. *J Dermatol Case Rep*;**7**: 31-41.

76. Uliana SR, Trinconi CT, Coelho AC (2017) Chemotherapy of leishmaniasis: present challenges. *Parasitology*;1-17.

77. Santos DO, Coutinho CE, Madeira MF, Bottino CG, Vieira RT, Nascimento SB, et al. (2008) Leishmaniasis treatment--a challenge that remains: a review. *Parasitol Res*;**103**: 1-10.

78. Barbosa JF, de Figueiredo SM, Monteiro FM, Rocha-Silva F, Gaciele-Melo C, Coelho SS, et al. (2015) New Approaches on Leishmaniasis Treatment and Prevention: A Review of Recent Patents. *Recent Pat Endocr Metab Immune Drug Discov*;**9**: 90-102.

79. Rodrigues IA, Mazotto AM, Cardoso V, Alves RL, Amaral AC, Silva JR, et al. (2015) Natural Products: Insights into Leishmaniasis Inflammatory Response. *Mediators Inflamm*;**2015**: 835910.

80. Taslimi Y, Zahedifard F, Rafati S (2016) Leishmaniasis and various immunotherapeutic approaches. *Parasitology*;1-11.

81. Oryan A (2015) Plant-derived compounds in treatment of leishmaniasis. *Iran J Vet Res*;16:
1-19.

82. Elmahallawy EK, Agil A (2015) Treatment of leishmaniasis: a review and assessment of recent research. *Curr Pharm Des;***21**: 2259-75.

83. Ullah N, Nadhman A, Siddiq S, Mehwish S, Islam A, Jafri L, et al. (2016) Plants as Antileishmanial Agents: Current Scenario. *Phytother Res*;**30**: 1905-25.

84. Sundar S, Chakravarty J (2013) Leishmaniasis: an update of current pharmacotherapy. *Expert Opin Pharmacother*;**14**: 53-63.

85. Laguna F (2003) Treatment of leishmaniasis in HIV-positive patients. *Ann Trop Med Parasitol*;97 Suppl 1: 135-42.

86. Ogungbe IV, Setzer WN (2016) The Potential of Secondary Metabolites from Plants as Drugs or Leads against Protozoan Neglected Diseases-Part III: In-Silico Molecular Docking Investigations. *Molecules*;**21**:

87. Scotti MT, Scotti L, Ishiki H, Ribeiro FF, Cruz RM, Oliveira MP, et al. (2016) Natural Products as a Source for Antileishmanial and Antitrypanosomal Agents. *Comb Chem High Throughput Screen*;19: 537-53.

88. Isah MB, Ibrahim MA, Mohammed A, Aliyu AB, Masola B, Coetzer TH (2016) A systematic review of pentacyclic triterpenes and their derivatives as chemotherapeutic agents against tropical parasitic diseases. *Parasitology*;**143**: 1219-31.

89. da Silva Filho AA, Resende DO, Fukui MJ, Santos FF, Pauletti PM, Cunha WR, et al. (2009) In vitro antileishmanial, antiplasmodial and cytotoxic activities of phenolics and triterpenoids from Baccharis dracunculifolia D. C. (Asteraceae). *Fitoterapia*;**80**: 478-82.

90. Chowdhury S, Mukherjee T, Sengupta S, Chowdhury SR, Mukhopadhyay S, Majumder HK (2011) Novel betulin derivatives as antileishmanial agents with mode of action targeting type IB DNA topoisomerase. *Mol Pharmacol*;**80**: 694-703.

91. Loo CS, Lam NS, Yu D, Su XZ, Lu F (2017) Artemisinin and its derivatives in treating protozoan infections beyond malaria. *Pharmacol Res*;**117**: 192-217.

92. Barros LM, Duarte AE, Morais-Braga MF, Waczuk EP, Vega C, Leite NF, et al. (2016) Chemical Characterization and Trypanocidal, Leishmanicidal and Cytotoxicity Potential of Lantana camara L. (Verbenaceae) Essential Oil. *Molecules*;**21**: 93. Islamuddin M, Chouhan G, Tyagi M, Abdin MZ, Sahal D, Afrin F (2014) Leishmanicidal activities of Artemisia annua leaf essential oil against Visceral Leishmaniasis. *Front Microbiol*;5:
626.

94. Demarchi IG, Terron MeS, Thomazella MV, Mota CA, Gazim ZC, Cortez DA, et al. (2016) Antileishmanial and immunomodulatory effects of the essential oil from Tetradenia riparia (Hochstetter) Codd. *Parasite Immunol;***38**: 64-77.

95. Andrade MA, Azevedo CD, Motta FN, Santos ML, Silva CL, Santana JM, et al. (2016) Essential oils: in vitro activity against Leishmania amazonensis, cytotoxicity and chemical composition. *BMC Complement Altern Med*;**16**: 444.

96. Seifert K (2011) Structures, targets and recent approaches in anti-leishmanial drug discovery and development. *Open Med Chem J*;**5**: 31-9.

97. Singh N, Mishra BB, Bajpai S, Singh RK, Tiwari VK (2014) Natural product based leads to fight against leishmaniasis. *Bioorg Med Chem*;**22**: 18-45.

98. Dutra FL, Oliveira MM, Santos RS, Silva WS, Alviano DS, Vieira DP, et al. (2016) Effects of linalool and eugenol on the survival of Leishmania (L.) infantum chagasi within macrophages. *Acta Trop*;**164**: 69-76.

99. Sen R, Ganguly S, Saha P, Chatterjee M (2010) Efficacy of artemisinin in experimental visceral leishmaniasis. *Int J Antimicrob Agents*;**36**: 43-9.

100. Ebrahimisadr P, Ghaffarifar F, Mohammad Hassan Z (2013) In-vitro Evaluation of Antileishmanial Activity and Toxicity of Artemether with Focus on its Apoptotic Effect. *Iran J Pharm Res*;**12**: 903-9.

101. Mandal D, Panda N, Kumar S, Banerjee S, Mandal NB, Sahu NP (2006) A triterpenoid saponin possessing antileishmanial activity from the leaves of Careya arborea. *Phytochemistry*;**67**: 183-90.

102. Pan L, Lezama-Davila CM, Isaac-Marquez AP, Calomeni EP, Fuchs JR, Satoskar AR, et al.
(2012) Sterols with antileishmanial activity isolated from the roots of Pentalinon andrieuxii. *Phytochemistry*;82: 128-35.

103. Muzitano MF, Tinoco LW, Guette C, Kaiser CR, Rossi-Bergmann B, Costa SS (2006) The antileishmanial activity assessment of unusual flavonoids from Kalanchoe pinnata. *Phytochemistry*;**67**: 2071-7.

104. Piñero J, Temporal RM, Silva-Gonçalves AJ, Jiménez IA, Bazzocchi IL, Oliva A, et al. (2006) New administration model of trans-chalcone biodegradable polymers for the treatment of experimental leishmaniasis. *Acta Trop*;**98**: 59-65.

105. Gupta S, Shivahare R, Korthikunta V, Singh R, Tadigoppula N (2014) Synthesis and biological evaluation of chalcones as potential antileishmanial agents. *Eur J Med Chem*;81: 359-66.
106. Iranshahi M, Arfa P, Ramezani M, Jaafari MR, Sadeghian H, Bassarello C, et al. (2007) Sesquiterpene coumarins from Ferula szowitsiana and in vitro antileishmanial activity of 7-prenyloxycoumarins against promastigotes. *Phytochemistry*;68: 554-61.

107. van Griensven J, Carrillo E, López-Vélez R, Lynen L, Moreno J. (2014) Leishmaniasis in immunosuppressed individuals. *Clin Microbiol Infect.* **20**(4):286-99.

108. Le Fichoux Y, Quaranta JF, Aufeuvre JP, Lelievre A, Marty P, Suffia I, et al. (1999) Occurrence of Leishmania infantum parasitemia in asymptomatic blood donors living in an area of endemicity in southern France. *J Clin Microbiol*; **37**(6):1953-7.

109. Faucher B, Pomares C, Fourcade S, Benyamine A, Marty P, Pratlong L, et al (2011) Mucosal Leishmania infantum leishmaniasis: specific pattern in a multicentre survey and historical cases. *J Infect.*. **63**(1):76-82.

110. Singh OP, Sundar S. (2015) Developments in Diagnosis of Visceral Leishmaniasis in the Elimination Era. *J Parasitol Res.* 239469.

111. de Godoy NS, Andrino ML, de Souza RM, Gakiya E, Amato VS, Lindoso JÂ, et al (2016) Could kDNA-PCR in Peripheral Blood Replace the Examination of Bone Marrow for the Diagnosis of Visceral Leishmaniasis? *J Parasitol Res.* 2016;2016:1084353.

112. Di Minno G, Perno CF, Tiede A, Navarro D, Canaro M, Güertler L, et al (2016) Current concepts in the prevention of pathogen transmission via blood/plasma-derived products for bleeding disorders. *Blood Rev.* **30**(1):35-48

113. Boelaert M, Sundar S. (2014) Leishmaniasis. *Manson's Tropical Infectious Diseases*; 631-651.

114. Boelaert M, Rijal S, Regmi S, Singh R, Karki B, Jacquet D, et al. (2004) A comparative study of the effectiveness of diagnostic tests for visceral leishmaniasis. *Am J Trop Med Hyg.* 70(1):72-7.

115. Bezuneh A, Mukhtar M, Abdoun A, Teferi T, Takele Y, Diro E, et al. (2014) Comparison of point-of-care tests for the rapid diagnosis of visceral leishmaniasis in East African patients. *Am J Trop Med Hyg.* **91**(6):1109-15.

116. Valli M, Pivatto M, Danuello A, Castro-Gamboa I, Siqueira Silva D H, Cavalheiro AJ, et al (2012) Tropical biodiversity: has it been a potential source of secondary metabolites useful for medicinal chemistry? *Quim. Nova.* **11**: 2278-2287

117. Sahu N K, Balbhadra S S, Choudhary J, Kohli D V. (2012) Exploring pharmacological significance of chalcone scaffold: a review. *Curr. Med. Chem.* 19 (2), 209-225.

118. Chen M, Christensen SB, Blom J, Lemmich E, Nadelmann L, Fich K, et al. (1993) Licochalcone A, a novel antiparasitic agent with potent activity against human pathogenic protozoan species of Leishmania. *Antimicrob. Agents Chemother.* **37**:2550–2556.
119. Chen M, Theander TG, Christensen SB, Hviid L, Zhai L, Kharazmi A. (1994) Licochalcone A, a new antimalarial agent, inhibits in vitro growth of the human malaria parasite Plasmodium falciparum and protects mice from P. yoelii infection. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother.* **38**(7):1470-5.

120. Benítez D, Medeiros A, Fiestas L, Panozzo-Zenere EA, Maiwald F, Prousis KC, et al. (2016) Identification of Novel Chemical Scaffolds Inhibiting Trypanothione Synthetase from Pathogenic Trypanosomatids. *PLoS Negl Trop Dis*. **10**(4):e0004617.